**RECEIVED**

**May 12 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2022-001116

The Honorable Frank Addy, Circuit Court Judge

State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Randall Medlin .....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Ranee Saunders  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113  
Columbia, SC 29204  
(803) 445-1333  
[ranee@franklinbestlaw.com](mailto:ranee@franklinbestlaw.com)  
[elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com](mailto:elizabeth@franklinbestlaw.com)

*Counsel for Appellant*

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in denying the motion for severance.
- II. Whether the trial court erred in giving an unconstitutionally coercive *Allen* charge.
- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying the motion for directed verdict.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Randall Medlin was indicted for one count of third degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor (CSC) and one count of second-degree assault and battery. (R. 4, 264, 266). He proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Frank Addy August 1-3, 2022. (R. 1). He was ultimately acquitted of the assault and battery charge and convicted of CSC. (R. 237). Judge Addy sentenced him to fifteen years' imprisonment, suspended on service of six years and four years' probation. (R. 244, 267-68). Mr. Medlin filed a timely notice of appeal.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only.” *State v. Cross*, 427 S.C. 465, 473, 832 S.E.2d 281, 285 (2019). “[T]he conduct of a trial is largely within the discretion of the presiding judge, to the end that a fair and impartial trial may be had.” *State v. Heath*, 232 S.C. 384, 391, 102 S.E.2d 268, 272 (1958). An abuse of that discretion occurs where the trial court’s conclusions are based on unsupported factual conclusions or controlled by an error of law. *State v. Prather*, 429 S.C. 583, 598, 840 S.E.2d 551, 559 (2020).

## ARGUMENT

### **Factual Background**

Jessica Davis of the Ware Shoals Police Department received a report on August 11, 2019 from Brandi Saunders alleging Mr. Medlin had inappropriately touched her daughter, M.J. (R. 59). The next day she met with the complaining witnesses, and another alleged assault by Mr. Medlin on a different victim, F.R., was also reported. (R. 60). Based on these accounts, Mr. Medlin was charged with CSC third for the alleged incident with M.J. and second-degree assault and battery for the alleged incident with F.R. (R. 4, 264, 266). The case proceeded to a jury trial.

During a pretrial hearing, defense counsel requested that the cases be tried separately. (R. 5). He argued that by trying them together prejudicial testimony would be admitted that would otherwise be excluded if they were tried separately, and the prejudice to Mr. Medlin outweighed any judicial expediency. (R. 6). The State opposed the motion, arguing the charges stemmed from a “single chain of circumstances” because there was a “single course of conduct.” (R. 6-7). Noting judicial economy, the trial court denied the request and stated it would make it “crystal clear” to the jurors that their verdict in one case could not influence their verdict in the other. (R. 9).

At trial, M.J. testified that at the time of the alleged incident she was fourteen and had gone swimming at the river with her dad’s girlfriend, Rhonda Snider, her three brothers, and Ms. Snider’s daughter, F.R. (R. 73). They had met up there with Mr. Medlin, his wife Dolores, and their family. She stated that while she was at the river, she and Mr. Medlin’s daughter were both in inner tubes and Mr. Medlin was sitting on the rocks between the two girls with an arm in each tube. (R. 75, 79). He was holding on to them because they could not touch the ground. (R. 80).

M.J. testified that he “started tickling [her] . . . and then he slowly put his hands into [her] pants and started rubbing . . . in between the lips.” (R. 75). She stated his hand was inside her bathing suit and that this went on “[p]robably about 20 minutes.” (R. 75, 80). She further testified Mr. Medlin held on to his daughter’s float the entire time. (R. 81). She stated that everyone they were with that day were only about five feet away and admitted it would not have been “any trouble” for someone to witness it. (R. 82, 83). On redirect, the solicitor suggested that when she said it went on for twenty minutes, did she mean it felt like twenty minutes, and she agreed. (R. 83). She further testified that Mr. Medlin eventually left and she got out of the water and shortly thereafter she and F.R. went and spoke with Ms. Snider and their family left; Ms. Snider then called the police. (R. 78-79). M.J. testified that after the incident she had stopped cheering because the “thought the cheer outfits would be too revealing.” (R. 71).

M.J.’s brother, Tarren Patrick, also testified about being at the river that day. He stated he saw Mr. Medlin “hanging off the float” with M.J. and F.R. (R. 112). He said that after she got out of the water, he went to talk to M.J. and she seemed upset but would not tell him why. (R. 112-13). Instead, M.J. and F.R. went off together and their family left shortly after. (R. 113). He stated that since the alleged incident, M.J. “keeps to herself” and “wear[s] baggy clothes.” (R. 114). When defense counsel showed him a recent picture M.J. had taken of herself in a fitted cropped T-shirt and then posted on social media, he admitted that the picture depicted her in her bedroom. (R. 116, 247).

Ms. Snider testified she had gone to the river that day with three of her stepchildren and her daughter F.R. (R. 123). She stated Mr. Medlin “is family to [her]” but her children had never met him before. (R. 123). She also testified that she had never met Mr. Medlin’s children before

that, but then qualified her statement say it was one of the “first few” times she had met them. (R. 129). She then stated F.R. had in fact met Mr. Medlin before, but M.J. had not met him before that day. (R. 131). Ms. Snider testified that when during that day, she at one point she looked over and saw Mr. Medlin in an inner tube and her daughter F.R. going under water to get out of the inner tube. (R. 124). She was talking to Ms. Medlin when F.R. and M.J. came to talk to her and she saw M.J. had been crying. (R. 125). The girls disclosed the alleged assaults and they left. (R. 125).

F.R. testified she was fifteen at the time of the alleged incident and about to start tenth grade. (R. 136). She stated she had met Mr. Medlin “a couple of times” and on that day he had been “more selective towards [her]” and “wanting to be around [her] more.” (R. 137). She testified that at one point he came up through the tube she was in and picked her up onto his lap, at which point she got out and started walking to shore. (R. 140). F.R. stated that as she was coming out of the riverbank, Mr. Medlin “grabbed” her with both hands on her buttocks and “pushed [her] up.” (R. 142, 146). She said she froze for about three seconds, or at least longer than a second, and then walked out of the water. (R. 147, 148). She testified the nearest adult was about twenty-five to thirty feet away. (R. 141).

The State rested and Mr. Medlin moved for directed verdict. As to the CSC charge, he argued the only evidence was that he was sitting with his arms draped in both M.J. and his daughter’s inner tube and M.J.’s dubious testimony that he had touched her for twenty minutes. (R. 150). Noting it was “[o]bviously not the strongest case [it had] seen” the court nevertheless denied the motion. (R. 150).

Mr. Medlin and his wife, both testified in his defense. Ms. Medlin testified she and Mr. Medlin arrived at the river with their youngest son, Dylan, and explained their two other children rode with Ms. Snider because they had spent the previous night at her house. (R. 156). She stated she stayed near the shallow water with her youngest son and her husband was down by the water with their daughter in one float and F.R. lying over M.J. in the other and then he came out about ten minutes after. (R. 158, 161). She testified a little while later, the girls—M.J., F.R., and her daughter—got out of the water and came to the table where the adults were and put leaves and flowers on her husband’s head. (R. 163). Her husband and brother-in-law went and floated down the river together and the girls left the picnic table. (R. 164). Ms. Medlin stated that before her husband got back, M.J. and F.R. came to speak privately with Ms. Snider and then they all got their stuff and left. (R. 164).

Mr. Medlin testified he had gone to the river that day with his youngest son, his wife, and his brother. (R. 169). His two other children had spent the night with Ms. Snider the night before. (R. 169). He stated the same group went to the river the day before, but it was raining, so they ended up at Ms. Snider’s house for a bonfire and pizza. (R. 170). His older children wanted to spend the night, so his daughter and oldest son stayed with Ms. Snider and her boyfriend that evening. (R. 170). He testified they arrived at the river after Ms. Snider and the children, and he smoked a cigarette before getting in the water. (R. 172). After he got in the water, he swam down to where everyone else was and once he got there he hung on to the floats. (R. 172–73). He noted the tubes were designed to be pulled by power boats, so they have ropes on them, and that is how he holds on to them. (R. 175). He testified he never did anything inappropriate with either alleged victim and could not think of anything that happened that could even be misconstrued that way.

(R. 177). He testified anyone who said he was in a float with F.R. was lying. 188. The defense rested and renewed its motions. (R. 191, 193).

The jury began deliberations at 3:12 p.m. on August 2 and continued through 6:05 p.m. that evening. (R. 228–29). The court excused them for the evening and brought them back at 9:30 a.m. the following day. (R. 230). The jury returned the following day and deliberations renewed. (R. 230). At 11:04 a.m. the court came back on the record and stated it had received notice from the jury that it was “at an impasse.” (R. 231). The court informed counsel it intended to give an *Allen*<sup>1</sup> charge. (R. 231). Defense counsel objected, specifically noting the inaccuracy of informing a jury that if it does not come to unanimous verdict, the case will have to be retried before a similar jury with the same evidence presented in the same way with the same witnesses. (R. 231). He further argued that the use of the charge generally served to persuade the analytical thinkers, allowing ideologues to prevail, overarchingly in favor of the State. (R. 231–32).

The trial court overruled the objection and called the jury back to the courtroom. (R. 232–33). The forelady informed the trial court it was deadlocked on the CSC charge. (R. 233). The trial court gave its *Allen* charge and the jury left to resume deliberations at 11:14 a.m. (R. 233–35). The court broke for lunch at 11:58 a.m. (R. 136). During the lunch break, the jury returned a verdict. The court reconvened at 1:23 p.m. and the forewoman delivered the verdict finding him not guilty of the assault and battery charge and guilty of CSC. (R. 237). He was sentenced him to fifteen years’ imprisonment, suspended on service of six years and four years’ probation. (R. 244).

## ANALYSIS

### **I. The Trial Court Erred in Refusing to Sever the Charges.**

---

<sup>1</sup> *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

The trial court erred in allowing the State to try the two charges against Mr. Medlin together. The charges are not closely related, and the joinder allowed the State to slip in propensity evidence that otherwise would have been excluded. This error prejudiced Mr. Medlin and requires reversal.

“The trial court has discretion in deciding whether to try charges together, and its decision will be reversed only if there is no evidence to support it or it is controlled by an error of law.” *State v. McGaha*, 404 S.C. 289, 294, 744 S.E.2d 602, 604 (Ct. App. 2013). “Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant’s substantive rights would not be prejudiced.” *State v. Smith*, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). However, “offenses which are of the same nature, but which do not arise out of a single chain of circumstances and are not provable by the same evidence may not properly be tried together.” *State v. Jones*, 325 S.C. 310, 315, 479 S.E.2d 517, 519 (Ct. App. 1996).

In the cases involving sexual abuse of minors, the courts have allowed charges to be tried together where there was abuse amongst siblings, multiple instances of abuse against a victim, or both. *See, e.g., State v. Beekman*, 415 S.C. 632, 637–38, 785 S.E.2d 202, 205 (2016) (affirming joinder of charges of CSC on stepson and lewd act on stepdaughter where evidence showed a series of actions to sexually abuse his prepubescent stepchildren and the molestation occurred in the same place, during the same stretch of time, and “with the same modus operandi—Beekman taking advantage of the children’s habit of watching television with him”); *State v. Tallent*, 430 S.C. 438, 446, 845 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2020) (affirming joinder of contributing to delinquency of a

minor and CSC and lewd act charges where evidence suggested a pattern of improper conduct involving years of sexual abuse of stepdaughter and supplying stepdaughter and stepson with illegal drugs and alcohol); *State v. Grace*, 350 S.C. 19, 24, 564 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming joinder of CSC charges and lewd act with a minor charge where incidents involved a pattern of sexual abuse of the same victim in the same bedroom over a short timeframe); *Jones*, 325 S.C. at 315, 479 S.E.2d at 520 (affirming joinder of multiple charges of sexual abuse of two minor victims where “offenses charged were of the same general nature involving allegations of a pattern of sexual abuse” and both victims had been taken to the same location and were present in the same motel room on an occasion of abuse).

Here, there is no similar interconnectedness, no evidence of a single course of conduct to justify joinder. The date and location are the only common denominators; there are no witnesses to the alleged assaults and there is no evidence of some pattern or series of actions to interconnect the two charges. The alleged abuses are distinct. The assault and battery charge was based on allegations that Mr. Medlin grabbed F.R.’s buttocks over her swimsuit with both hands for a few seconds as she was exiting the water. The CSC charge was based on allegations Mr. Medlin fondled M.J.’s vagina under her swimsuit as she lay next to him in a float. The first alleged incident was described as brief—F.R. stated she froze when he touched her and then she moved about three seconds later. (R. 147). The length of the latter is indeterminate, with M.J. testifying that the abuse occurred for about twenty minutes, (R. 77, 80), and the solicitor undermining that testimony by arguing M.J. did not have a watch and it was just time enough to feel uncomfortable, (R. 201). The girls were not together when these events allegedly occurred and neither witnessed the other

alleged crime, therefore the crimes would not be proved by the same evidence, which was limited to the alleged victims' testimonies.

Furthermore, Mr. Medlin was prejudiced in having the two charges tried together. Had they been tried separately, evidence of one would not be admitted in the other under Rule 404, SCRE. The sole purpose for attempting to do so would be to show propensity. *See State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 41, 842 S.E.2d 654, 663 (2020) (“With no fact in issue in the crimes charged that is made more or less likely by the [evidence of prior sexual assault]—other than “he did it”—the probative force lies only in the use of the testimony to prove character, and from that character to prove he acted in accordance. In other words, the [evidence of prior sexual assault] served only one purpose—propensity.”). In neither instance is there an issue of fact that would be clarified for the jury by the introduction of evidence of the other alleged bad act. With no legitimate purpose beyond propensity, the evidence would be inadmissible. Therefore, refusing to sever the charges, the trial court allowed the State to backdoor propensity evidence to the prejudice of Mr. Medlin. *State v. Beekman*, 405 S.C. 225, 230, 746 S.E.2d 483, 486 (Ct. App. 2013), *affirmed by State v. Beekman*, 415 S.C. 632, 785 S.E.2d 202 (2016) (noting prejudice to a defendant may occur where the defendant is jointly tried on charges resulting in the admission of prior bad act evidence that would have otherwise been inadmissible).

Although the trial court suggested Mr. Medlin was not prejudiced because the jury found him not guilty on one of the charges, the fact the State failed to meet its burden of proving his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt on one of the charges does not mean the jury could not have impermissibly draw negative inferences against Mr. Medlin based on the evidence adduced as to that charge. It may be that the jury determined his alleged actions did not meet the elements of

second-degree assault and battery. The trial court charged the jury that assault and battery second occurs where a “person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so, and the act involves the non-consensual touching of the private parts of a person either above or below the clothing.” (R. 226). It did not define injury. However, the State had moments before defined the crime identically in its closing<sup>2</sup> and then immediately defined “moderate bodily injury” to the jury as “physical injury requiring treatment to an organ system of the body other than the skin, muscles, or connective tissue of the body, except when there is penetration in the skin, muscles, and connective tissues that require surgical repair of a complex nature, or when treatment of the injuries requires the use of regional or general anesthesia.” (R. 198–99). The jury would naturally have concluded it must find a *physical* injury, and that the act causing that injury involved the touching of private parts. The State did not make clear in its arguments what *injury* had occurred to satisfy the elements of the crime, and its own closing indicated physical injury was part of the crime.<sup>3</sup> No evidence of physical injury (and certainly no evidence of moderate bodily injury) to F.R. was presented.

So the jury may have believed that Mr. Medlin had groped F.R.’s buttocks (which caused no physical injury) and therefore the admission of evidence as to that allegation was prejudicial

---

<sup>2</sup> In its opening statement, the State defined assault and battery in the second degree as “when a defendant touches the private parts of someone over the age of 16 without that person’s consent.” (R. 50). F.R. was fifteen at the time of the alleged incident. (R. 136).

<sup>3</sup> This Court recently held that an “injury” for the purpose of proving assault and battery need not be a *physical* injury but injury in the legal sense. *See State v. Robinson*, 437 S.C. 226, 233–34, 878 S.E.2d 8, 12 (Ct. App. 2022), *petition for cert. filed*, App. No. 2022-001481 (S.C. Sup. Ct. Oct. 20, 2022). However, a question of statutory interpretation is not the concern of the jury; it is expected to do no more than what it is told. As discussed above, the point here is that no one ever informed the jury that the element of injury could be nonphysical. To the contrary, the State explained moderate bodily injury.

propensity evidence. Such prejudice is magnified in a case where the evidence was so weak. Weak to the point that the jury was deadlocked and only came to a verdict after an *Allen* charge. Mr. Medlin is therefore entitled to a new trial on his CSC charge.

## **II. The *Allen* Charge was Unconstitutionally Coercive.**

The trial court's coercive jury charge denied Mr. Medlin his right to a fair trial before an impartial jury. The trial court overstepped in its authority by misleading the jury about the ramifications of a deadlock and suggesting the evidence was sufficient to reach a result. Mr. Medlin was therefore denied a fair trial and should be granted a new one.

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