RECEIVED

May 05 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-001116

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

RANDALL WADE MEDLIN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 842-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by consolidating Appellant’s two charges—which stemmed from his molestation of two separate teenaged girls below the surface of visibility-obscuring dark water on the very same trip to the river on the very same date—for a single trial because: (1) the charges were of the same general nature and involved connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character; (2) the charges were proved by same or similar evidence; and (3) the consolidation of the charges did not result in any undue prejudice to Appellant’s substantive rights.

Appellant contends the trial judge abused his discretion by allowing the third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge stemming from Appellant’s sexual abuse of one minor victim to be tried together in a single trial with his charge of second-degree assault and battery stemming from his similar abuse of another minor victim. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains the charges should not have been consolidated for trial because the offenses were not “closely related,” there was nothing to interconnect the charges due to a lack of common denominators or similarities beyond date and location, and his substantive rights were prejudiced as a result of the consolidation of the charges. To the contrary, the charges—which both stemmed from strikingly-similar sexual abuse perpetrated by Appellant upon two separate teenaged girls during the same trip to the river on the same date around the very same time—were properly consolidated for trial because: (1) they were of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character; (2) they were proved by the same or similar evidence; and (3) the consolidation of the charges did not result in any undue prejudice to any of Appellant’s substantive rights under the circumstances involved. Therefore, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion over such matters by prudently choosing to allow both charges to be tried together in a single consolidated trial. Appellant’s conviction should be affirmed.

Relevant Facts

Toward the outset of Appellant’s trial, defense counsel moved for severance and requested Appellant be tried separately on each of his two charges stemming from his inappropriate touching of Victim 1 and Victim 2. (R. pp. 4-5). As support for that motion, defense counsel argued more testimony would be admitted in a joint trial than would be admitted in separate trials while a joint trial would create a risk the jurors would consider the allegations collectively since the “same criminal conduct” was involved in both charges. (R. pp. 5-6). Likewise, defense counsel alleged prejudice to Appellant could result “from the evidence from one bleeding into the mind of the jurors when evaluating the evidence from the other.” (R. p. 8). In rebuttal, the solicitor—while citing to the Supreme Court’s decision in State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 785 S.E.2d 202 (2016)—argued Appellant’s charges could properly and should be tried together because the offenses were of the same general nature, the charges stemmed from closely-related and connected transactions, the witnesses for both charges would be the same, both victims were assaulted on the same date at the same place, the charges arose from a single chain of circumstances, and the interests of judicial economy would best be served by a single trial under the circumstances involved. (R. pp. 6-8).

Upon considering the arguments of counsel, the trial judge ruled he was going to exercise his discretion and permit the charges to be tried collectively in a single trial. (R. pp. 8-9). In reaching that conclusion, the trial judge explained he believed the interests of judicial economy would be served by joinder and found joinder to be warranted since the incidents took place at the same “swimming hole” on the same date during the same few-hours-long period of time. (R. pp. 8-9). The trial judge further explained he intended to prevent any undue prejudice by making

“crystal clear” to the jurors they were required to decide the cases separately and uninfluenced by their decision as to the other. (R. p. 9).

Following that ruling, the trial proceeded forward, and each of Appellant’s teenaged victims testified about the events that occurred on the date of the incident. (R. pp. 70-84; pp. 135-148). In doing so, each of the girls offered straightforward testimony about the distinct acts of inappropriate touching they were individually subjected to by Appellant during the river trip on that date. (R. p. 72; pp. 74-78; pp. 80-81; p. 83; pp. 138-142; pp. 146-148). Along with the victims’ testimony, the other witnesses present on the date of the incident testified about their own observations and experiences from the river trip, including Appellant himself. (R. pp. 107-120; pp. 122-131; pp. 154-190). Through his testimony, Appellant flatly denied sexually abusing either of the two girls on that date. (R. pp. 174-177; pp. 187-188).

After all the testimony and evidence was presented, defense counsel renewed his motion for severance, asserting it was “more apparent than ever” to him the charges should have been severed because—in his view—what was presented “kind of revealed a carrying over impression.” (R. p. 193). Again, the trial judge denied the motion. (R. p. 193).

As the trial continued forward, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge charged the jury on the applicable law. (R. pp. 195-228). In doing so, the trial judge instructed the jury on the presumption of innocence, explained the State had the burden of proving Appellant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, discussed the differences between direct and circumstantial evidence, went over principles related to evaluating witness credibility, and affirmed the verdict reached had to be unanimous.² (R. pp. 219-228).

² Prior to that point, the trial judge had earlier twice emphasized to the jurors the State had the burden of proving each and every element of the charged offenses beyond a reasonable doubt in order for Appellant to be convicted. (R. p. 10; p. 42).

Furthermore and importantly, the trial judge also expressly instructed the jurors they must decide each of Appellant's charges separately and uninfluenced by their decision on the other.³ (R. p. 220-221).

After receiving those instructions, the jurors began their deliberations. (R. p. 229). Ultimately, following a temporary deadlock and the presentation of some supplemental instructions, the jury unanimously convicted Appellant of the third-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor charge related to one of the girls and acquitted Appellant of the second-degree assault and battery charge related to the other girl. (R. pp. 233-235; pp. 238-239). Defense counsel then again renewed the severance motion. (R. p. 241). However, once again, the trial judge denied that motion, and, in doing so, he noted the jurors demonstrated they were capable of discerning between the two charges by returning a split verdict. (R. pp. 241-242).

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). When confronted with a motion for severance or joinder of charges, a trial judge is afforded broad discretion over the matter. State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 164, 478 S.E.2d 260, 265 (1996); see State v. Grace, 350 S.C. 19, 23, 564 S.E.2d 331, 333 (Ct. App. 2002) (“The circuit court has wide discretion when deciding whether to consolidate charges for trial and its decision will only be overturned when an abuse of discretion has occurred.”). On appeal, the trial judge's ruling on such a motion is reviewed deferentially and will not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 350,

³ Specifically, the trial judge instructed: “Each indictment charges a separate and distinct offense, so you must decide each indictment separately on the evidence and law applicable to it uninfluenced by your decision as to any other indictment. The defendant may be convicted or acquitted on any or all of the charged offenses, and you'll be asked to write a separate verdict of guilty or not guilty for each of the charges.” (R. pp. 220-221).

573 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2002); see United States v. Acker, 52 F.3d 509, 514 (4th Cir. 1995) (“The trial court has a wide range of discretion in matters of severance which should be left undisturbed, absent a showing of clear prejudice or abuse of discretion.”); State v. Tallent, 430 S.C. 438, 445, 845 S.E.2d 508, 512 (Ct. App. 2020) (“Decisions on severance and joinder are reviewed under a deferential standard.”); see also State v. Rivera, 798 A.2d 958, 962 (Conn. 2002) (“It is the defendant’s burden on appeal to show that the denial of severance resulted in substantial injustice, and that any resulting prejudice was beyond the curative power of the court’s instructions.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial judge’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 613, 629 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 2006); see United States v. Summers, 666 F.3d 192, 197 (4th Cir. 2011) (instructing an appellate court will not find a trial judge’s ruling constituted an abuse of discretion unless it was arbitrary and irrational).

Argument

In South Carolina and elsewhere throughout the nation, a criminal defendant generally has “no inalienable right” to be tried separately for each indicted offense when charged with multiple crimes due to the important interests served by consolidated trials. McCrary v. State, 249 S.C. 14, 38, 152 S.E.2d 235, 247 (1967); see United States v. Lane, 474 U.S. 438, 449 (1986) (“[J]oint trials conserve state funds, diminish inconvenience to witnesses and public authorities, and avoid delays in bringing those accused of crime to trial.” (citation and internal quotations)); United States v. Mir, 525 F.3d 351, 357 (4th Cir. 2008) (“[J]oiner is the rule rather than the exception . . . because the prospect of duplicating witness testimony, impaneling additional jurors, and wasting limited judicial resources suggests that related offenses should be tried in a single proceeding.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)). Resultantly,

a trial judge has broad discretion to order separately-indicted offenses to be tried together when: (1) the charges arise out of a single chain of circumstances or involve connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character; (2) the charges are of the same general nature; (3) the charges are proved by the same evidence; and (4) no real right of the defendant would be prejudiced by the joinder. State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005); see Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265 (“Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.”); State v. Carter, 324 S.C. 383, 386, 478 S.E.2d 86, 88 (Ct. App. 1996) (“Joinder is proper if the offenses (1) are of the same general nature or character and spring from the same series of transactions, (2) are committed by the same offender, and (3) require the same or similar proof.”).

With those considerations in mind, our Supreme Court just a few years ago addressed a challenge to a trial judge’s joinder ruling in a case involving charges stemming from the abuse of two separate minor victims through its decision in State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 634, 785 S.E.2d 202, 203 (2016). In that case, Beekman was charged with lewd act upon a child after his twelve-year-old stepdaughter revealed he touched her “private area” beneath her clothing in the living room of the family home. Id. at 634-635, 785 S.E.2d at 203. Likewise, Beekman was charged with first-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor after his eight-year-old stepson—subsequent to the stepdaughter’s disclosure—revealed Beekman sexually abused him twice within an eight-month period by touching his penis and anally raping him. Id. at 635, 785 S.E.2d at 204. Over objection, Beekman was jointly tried for both charges in a single trial, and the jury convicted him as indicted. Id. at 636, 785 S.E.2d at 204. Beekman then unsuccessfully appealed

his convictions to the Court of Appeals before seeking further review from the Supreme Court. Id. A writ of certiorari was granted, and, on certiorari, a majority of the Supreme Court affirmed after rejecting Beekman’s contention the trial judge erred by declining to sever the charges. Id. In reaching that conclusion, the majority first found Beekman’s charges arose from a single chain of circumstances and were of the same general nature because they involved connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character since they involved siblings molested at the same place over the same *eight-month* period of time in a similar manner that involved taking advantage of their television-watching habits. Id. at 637-638, 785 S.E.2d at 205. Next, the majority found the charges were proved by the same evidence because—even though the charged crimes were distinct—there were “glaring similarities” between them and many of the same witnesses would be used to prove both. Id. at 638, 785 S.E.2d at 205. And, in making such a finding, the majority explicitly rejected the suggestion joinder could only be appropriate when “completely identical evidence” would be used to prove both charges. Id. Furthermore, in light of those circumstances, the majority found “joinder did not prejudice any of Beekman’s substantial rights.” Id. at 639, 785 S.E.2d at 206. Accordingly, for those reasons, the Supreme Court determined the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by joining Beekman’s charges for a single trial. Id.; see also State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 315-316, 479 S.E.2d 517, 519-520 (Ct. App. 1996) (concluding numerous charges stemming from the sexual abuse of two minor victims over a roughly ten-month period of time were properly joined together for a single trial).

In the case sub judice, Appellant’s charges stemmed from his strikingly-similar sexual abuse of his two minor victims—who, unlike the victims in Beekman, were the same gender and very close in age—on the exact same day during precisely the same collective trip to the river. As a result, the trial judge—just like the trial judge in Beekman—did not abuse his broad

discretion by rejecting defense counsel's severance motion and allowing the charges to be tried together during a single trial since an analysis of the pertinent factors overwhelmingly supported joinder of those charges under the circumstances involved.

Turning to the first and second relevant factors, both of Appellant's charges arose out of a single interconnected chain of circumstances and were of the same general nature. More specifically, both indictments involved offenses stemming from Appellant's unwanted touching of two teenaged girls, and the acts leading to those two charges occurred: (1) at the same location—the river at Pitts Park; (2) over the same period of time during the same event—the several-hour length of time Appellant and the girls were on the river trip together on the date of the incident; and (3) with the same modus operandi—Appellant using the trip to gain close access to teenaged girls and then exploiting the darkness of the river's water to conceal his inappropriate touching of the girls below the water's surface. Cf. Beekman, 415 S.C. at 637-638, 785 S.E.2d at 205 (“There can be no dispute that Beekman's molestation of his two stepchildren involved connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character. Specifically, Beekman's victims were siblings and the molestation occurred (1) at the same place—the victim's home; (2) over the same period of time—the eight-month period between November 2007 and July 2008; and (3) with the same modus operandi—Beekman taking advantage of the children's habit of watching television with him.”); State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 295, 744 S.E.2d 602, 605 (Ct. App. 2013) (“The molestation of each child during the same time period and in the same location, accomplished through the same access to them, established a sufficiently connected chain of circumstances to satisfy this element.”); State v. Caldwell, 378 S.C. 268, 278, 662 S.E.2d 474, 479 (Ct. App. 2008) (finding charges involving three separate juvenile victims were properly joined where “[a]ll three charges . . . ar[o]se out of a single chain

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